See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/270691987

## **Environmental Ethics**

Article in Annual Review of Environment and Resources · October 2014 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-environ-121112-094434 CITATIONS READS 26 42,070

3 authors, including:





Katie Mcshane

Colorado State University

26 PUBLICATIONS 267 CITATIONS

SEE PROFILE

Some of the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:

{Over}consumption: The culprit causing an environmental crisis in your closet. PI, \$20,000 grant awarded by School of Global Environmental Sustainability (SoGES), Colorado State University View project



Clothing and Sustainability: Policy Implications through Structured Public Deliberation. School of Global Environmental Sustainability (SoGES), \$20,000. PI View project

# **Environmental Ethics**

## Clare Palmer, 1 Katie McShane, 2 and Ronald Sandler 3

<sup>1</sup>Department of Philosophy, Texas A&M University, College Station, Texas 77845; email: c.palmer@tamu.edu

Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 2014. 39:419-42

First published online as a Review in Advance on August 13, 2014

The *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* is online at environ.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-environ-121112-094434

Copyright © 2014 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

## Keywords

environmental ethics, environmental values, ethical theory, intrinsic value, climate ethics

#### **Abstract**

Environmental ethics—the study of ethical questions raised by human relations with the nonhuman environment—emerged as an important subfield of philosophy during the 1970s. It is now a flourishing area of research. This article provides a review of the secular, Western traditions in the field. It examines both anthropocentric and nonanthropocentric claims about what has value, as well as divergent views about whether environmental ethics should be concerned with bringing about best consequences, respecting principles and rights, or embodying environmental virtues. The article also briefly considers two critical traditions—ecofeminism and environmental pragmatism—and explores some of the difficult environmental ethics questions posed by anthropogenic climate change.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Philosophy, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colorado 80523-1781; email: katie.mcshane@colostate.edu

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of Philosophy and Religion, Northeastern University, Boston, Massachusetts 02115; email: r.sandler@neu.edu

Contents	
1. DEFINITIONS AND SCOPE	420
2. INTRODUCING THE FIELD	421
3. UNDERSTANDING VALUE IN ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS	422
3.1. Interpretations of Intrinsic Value	422
3.2. Intrinsic Value as Moral Status	423
4. HUMAN VALUES IN ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS	423
4.1. The Idea of Anthropocentrism	423
4.2. Environmental Justice and Sustainability	424
5. NONHUMAN VALUES IN ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS	
5.1. Ethics and Sentient Animals	426
5.2. Ethical Biocentrism	426
5.3. Holistic Ethics: Ecocentrism	427
5.4. Holistic Ethics: Species	428
5.5. Wildness Value	
5.6. Hybrid or Value-Pluralist Views	430
6. ETHICAL THEORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS	
6.1. Consequentialism	431
6.2. Deontological and Rights Views	
6.3. Virtue Ethics	
7. CONTRASTING APPROACHES	432
7.1. Ecofeminism	433
7.2. Environmental Pragmatism	433
8. TRENDS AND DIRECTIONS	434
8.1. Growing Links with Other Disciplines	434
8.2. Links with Emerging Technologies	
8.3. Environmental Ethics and Climate Change	

#### 1. DEFINITIONS AND SCOPE

Environmental ethics is the study of ethical questions raised by human relationships with the nonhuman environment. Ethical questions are those about what we ought to do, and ethical claims are prescriptive, rather than descriptive or predictive. An example of a prescriptive claim is as follows: People should reduce the ecological impacts of their lifestyles. This claim could be true, even if lifestyles are currently unsustainable and future change is unlikely. Thus, prescriptive claims are not reducible to either descriptive claims about people's acts and beliefs or predictive claims about possible future events. They are instead normative and aspirational, describing the behaviors, practices, and character traits for which we ought to strive, even if these are difficult to achieve.

This implies that the empirical sciences alone are insufficient for answering ethical questions and justifying ethical claims. Of course, knowledge about ecological systems, the state of the world, human psychology, and social institutions is crucial to good ethical reasoning. For example, part of determining whether we ought to reduce our ecological footprint is having good data about ecological limits, lifestyle impacts, and what may occur if lifestyles do not change. However, to get from descriptive and predictive claims to normative or prescriptive claims other things are

required—values and principles. Therefore, central to environmental ethics are the tasks of determining what things in the nonhuman environment (hereinafter, the environment) are valuable; how and why they are valuable; and how we ought to consider these values in deliberations about principles, actions, practices, and laws. The goals and methods of particular environmental policies, ecosystem management strategies, and practices of environmental activism, among other things, can then be assessed in terms of how responsive they are to what is valuable in the environment and how well they embody the principles that those values justify. Many environmental issues, e.g., endangered species protection, sustainable resource management, genetically modified crop use, greenhouse gas mitigation, population growth, and chemical contamination, are as much ethical issues as they are economic or legal issues. It is therefore crucial to evaluate the policies and practices regarding them in terms of what is right and good, in addition to what is efficient or expedient.

Environmental ethics emerged as a distinct field of philosophy during the 1970s, and its scope has since expanded significantly. To carry out a rigorous and thorough review, therefore, we have, of necessity, restricted the areas we discuss. First, we focus specifically on environmental ethics, not on environmental philosophy more broadly construed, e.g., environmental epistemology, metaphysics, and aesthetics (but see References 1–3). Second, we concentrate on the secular, Western traditions currently dominant in environmental ethics within what is usually called an analytic philosophical tradition. We omit discussion of religious approaches to environmental ethics (but see Reference 4); non-Western traditions, including indigenous and Asian approaches to environmental ethics (but see References 5, 6); and Continental philosophical traditions, such as those emerging from phenomenology and existentialism (but see References 7, 8). By narrowing our focus in this way, we do not intend to imply that these approaches are not extremely important. Because of length restrictions, we cannot include the serious and careful consideration that these approaches deserve.

#### 2. INTRODUCING THE FIELD

Ethical reflection on human relations with the nonhuman world is not new. Concern about the environmental impacts of human practices, and human treatment of animals, was found in ancient Greece (9). Jeremy Bentham (1748-1832) and John Muir (1838-1914) are both still influential in environmental ethics; and Aldo Leopold's A Sand County Almanac (10), a seminal work in the field with its essay on the Land Ethic, was published in 1949. However, as noted above, the modern field of environmental ethics emerged in the 1970s. The first academic conference concerning environmental ethics was held at the University of Georgia in 1971; the first journal, Environmental Ethics, was founded in 1978. From the 1980s onward, research, publication, and teaching in environmental ethics rapidly expanded. Monographs and edited collections central to the field, including Taylor's Respect for Nature (11), Rolston's Philosophy Gone Wild (12), and Elliot & Gare's Environmental Philosophy (13), were published in the mid-1980s. By the 1990s, textbooks and readers for students were being published, most prominently Des Jardins's Environmental Ethics (14) and VanDeVeer & Pierce's The Environmental Ethics and Policy Book (15). The International Society for Environmental Ethics was founded in 1989, and the International Association for Environmental Philosophy in 1997. New environmental ethics journals were also founded during the 1990s: Environmental Values (1992), Ethics and the Environment (1996), the Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics (1997) and Ethics, Place and Environment (1998) (now Ethics, Policy and Environment).

As environmental ethics continued to grow in the twenty-first century, it diversified. Environmental ethics now supports many contrasting views concerning the fundamental problems in

environmental ethics, how to approach these problems, and how environmental ethical theory relates to pressing practical environmental issues. Here, we outline some central, but divergent, positions currently defended within environmental ethics.

#### 3. UNDERSTANDING VALUE IN ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS

## 3.1. Interpretations of Intrinsic Value

At the heart of environmental ethics is a question about what has value—what matters. The claim that the environment, or parts of it, has intrinsic value has been centrally important. However, this term can be and has been used in a number of significantly different ways. We identify five ways here. One additional sense of intrinsic value as meaning moral status or moral considerability is discussed separately below.

Intrinsic value may be understood as properly contrasted with instrumental value, where instrumental value is the value that something has as being a means to our ends (14, pp. 144–45; 16, pp. 56–74; for discussion, 17–19). To say that the environment has intrinsic value here is just to say that it has value beyond anything it does to help us achieve our aims—beyond, for example, providing ecosystem services, recreational opportunities, and so on. Those who claim that the environment has intrinsic value in this sense deny that it exists merely as a human resource.

Others take intrinsic value to be properly contrasted with extrinsic value, where extrinsic value is the value something has by virtue of its relation to another valuable thing (20, p. 29; 21, pp. 151–52). Extrinsic value is thus broader than and inclusive of instrumental value because "being a means" is one kind of relation something can have to another valuable thing, though not the only kind. In this view, to say that the environment has intrinsic value is to say that it is not valuable on account of its relations to things other than itself, but rather that it has value in its own right.

Another interpretation takes intrinsic value to be a matter of the metaphysical status of the properties in virtue of which something has its value (22, pp. 114–17; 23, pp. 321–39). To say that something is intrinsically valuable in this sense is to say that it is valuable because of the intrinsic properties that it has. For example, one might claim that an ecosystem is intrinsically valuable by virtue of its health, structure, or self-sufficiency.

Still others regard intrinsic value not as a matter of where something gets its value, or the metaphysical status of its value, but rather to mean the lexical priority of its value over other kinds of value (24, 25). In this view, to say that something has intrinsic value is to say that its value is more important than mere instrumental or extrinsic values.

Intrinsic value may also be taken to denote a particular way that something ought to be valued—that it ought to be regarded as worthy of respect (or some other intrinsically valuing attitude) rather than merely useful or convenient (or any other extrinsically valuing attitude) (19, 26). The idea here is that things that are intrinsically valuable ought to be valued differently, though not necessarily valued more, than extrinsically valuable things.

As the field of environmental ethics has developed, claims that the environment, or parts of it, has noninstrumental value have remained popular (see Reference 16). Claims that the environment has value in its own right, or that it merits certain special kinds of valuation, have been more controversial but are still widely endorsed. However, metaphysical understandings of intrinsic value and its interpretation in terms of lexical priority have both been much criticized—for failures in terms of both metaphysical and moral justification—and are not now widely accepted (16, 23, 25).

#### 3.2. Intrinsic Value as Moral Status

The term intrinsic value is also sometimes taken to mean having moral status or moral considerability. To say that something has moral status normally means that it should be taken directly into account in our decision making; as Warren (27, p. 3) maintains: "we may not treat it just in any way we please." In most accounts, something that has moral status is understood to have interests, or a good, of its own; things can go better or worse for it, although better and worse can be understood in different ways. To say that something has moral status is not, however, necessarily to say that it has moral rights. Rights possession is usually construed much more narrowly than moral status and is normally only applied to humans and perhaps some animals (28). To say that something has moral status also says nothing about comparative value; it is a threshold concept. To say something has moral status is just to say it counts for something; the term moral significance is usually reserved for comparative judgments of moral weight (28).

From its earliest days until the present, environmental ethics has been concerned not only with what value means but also with what actually has value and with the implications such values may have for human relations and human behavior. Almost everyone agrees that human beings have high moral significance and that ethical issues arise when some human actions involving the environment negatively impact other humans. However, if some, or all, of the environment is thought to have intrinsic value, additional ethical issues are raised.

## 4. HUMAN VALUES IN ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS

## 4.1. The Idea of Anthropocentrism

The term anthropocentrism can be used to refer to worldviews and attitudes, to intrinsic value, or to moral status and significance. The argument that anthropocentric attitudes, such as that humans have dominion over nature, lie at the root of our environmental problems has historically been influential in environmental ethics. In a key early paper, Lynn White Jr. (29) maintained that the claim that humans were both separate from and superior to nature was a fundamental cause of the environmental crisis. This idea also animated deep ecology, a radical environmental movement at its height in the late 1970s and 1980s, but still influential today (30, 31).

One common form of anthropocentrism claims that only human beings have intrinsic value. As discussed in Section 3.1 above, this can mean very different things. It could mean that things other than human beings can only have value as means to our ends, which is sometimes referred to as strong anthropocentrism (32). Or it could mean that only humans have value in their own right; everything else must get its value from some relation to us. It could mean that we only have value by virtue of our intrinsic properties. Or it could mean that the value of humans trumps the value of all other things or that humans ought to be valued in a distinctive way that does not apply to other things.

Perhaps the most popular way of understanding anthropocentrism, however, has been as a claim about moral status and/or moral significance. These forms of anthropocentrism maintain either that only human beings have moral status or that human beings are much more morally significant than any other living things. Someone who is nonanthropocentric about moral status, in contrast, maintains that at least some nonhuman beings or things, which may include animals, living organisms, ecosystems, populations, and species, have interests that should be taken into consideration in our moral decision making. Whether such things do have interests and, if so, whether these interests should be considered morally significant have been a matter of considerable debate within the field (11, 22, 33–39; see Section 5 below). Someone who is nonanthropocentric about moral significance also typically rejects the claim that human interests should always be

considered more important than the interests of other things. This could be by claiming that all interests are equally important (11, 34) or by claiming that importance is established by something besides species membership, e.g., contribution to ecosystem health (40).

Two further points should be made. First, significant environmental ethics problems exist, even for those who are anthropocentric. Human interactions with the environment generate substantial interhuman justice issues, both between existing people and between present and future people (see Section 4.2 below); and justice issues are a core concern of environmental ethics. Of course, nonanthropocentric views usually share similar concerns, extended to broader constituencies. Second, the term anthropocentric in environmental ethics has often been understood to carry negative valence (in a similar way to the negative valence popularly carried by the term egocentric); hostility to it has been so widespread that it has been argued that nonanthropocentrism is a "dogma of environmental ethics" (41, p. 142). However, a number of environmental ethicists strongly defend forms of anthropocentric ethics; many of these philosophers are known as environmental pragmatists (see Section 5.2 below).

## 4.2. Environmental Justice and Sustainability

Environmental justice is a key concern of environmental ethics. It is defined by the US Environmental Protection Agency as "the fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, color, national origin, or income with respect to the development, implementation, and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations, and policies" (42, p. 2). As this definition indicates, there are both distributive and participative (or procedural) justice issues involving the environment.

Distributive justice concerns the allocation of burdens and benefits in societies. One important environmental burden is exposure to environmental hazards. Research has shown that low-income and high-minority communities are disproportionately exposed to environmental hazards, particularly chemical exposure and air and water pollution, stemming from living and/or working near transportation depots, industrial facilities, and waste processing facilities (43, 44). In the United States, race is significant to exposure above and beyond income, sometimes leading to the use of the term environmental racism (45). The United States is not anomalous in this respect; low-income and marginalized communities all over the world are disproportionally exposed to ecological hazards from, for example, mining, agriculture, and global climate change (45, 46).

Unequal exposure to environmental hazards might not itself be unjust, if there were good justification for the inequality. For instance, justice might allow unequal exposure even to the economically worst off, if those who shoulder the burdens also get associated benefits, or if exposure is the result of a sufficiently fair social and political process. However, this is rarely the case. Any plausible theory of justice must accept that race and wealth are not appropriate bases for differential treatment or political standing. To deny this would be to accept racism and classism and to reject the equal moral worth of people.

Participative justice means the involvement of those affected by decisions in making the decisions. Critics have pointed out that many people adversely affected by policies, institutions, and choices about environmental matters have no say in their formation (47, 48). This is a violation of participative justice. To avoid participative injustices, environmental ethicists have recommended full and meaningful participation, particularly by those whose health and welfare might be affected in environmental decision making (49).

Environmental ethicists have raised many global concerns about environment and justice. One such concern arises when the creation of parks and reserves restricts indigenous communities

from accessing historical lands and resources (50), and another from bioprospecting using indigenous knowledge (51). Justice concerns also arise in the context of debt-for-nature swaps where "a creditor agrees to forgive a developing country's debt on the condition that the developing country fund and implement a domestic conservation program" (52, p. 359). In cases like these, environmental ethicists have worked to define the operative principles of justice to evaluate the acceptability of current policies and practices, as well as alternatives to them.

Moreover, environmental hazards are not geographically or temporally contained. The ecological conditions of people not yet born are impacted by our current practices, lifestyles, and policies. Thus, another aspect of environmental justice for environmental ethicists has been determining what we owe to people who are distant from us across space and time, particularly those who do not yet exist (53, 54). One key area of ethical debate here has been the idea of sustainable development, popularly defined in *Our Common Future* (55, p. 54) as meeting "the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." Most accounts of sustainable development attempt to bind together concerns about equity (over both time and space), economics, and the environment, sometimes called the triple bottom line, into a single approach (56). Ethicists have been both supportive and somewhat skeptical about the idea of sustainable development, applauding the general thrust of the idea but expressing concerns about its potential vagueness (57, 58).

Global and intergenerational justice issues have recently gained greater attention because of their centrality to the ethics of global climate change. Affluent people living today are disproportionately responsible for anthropogenic climate change because of their high-consumption (and so high-emissions) lifestyles. However, poor people in low-income countries are, and will increasingly be, disproportionally exposed to the ecological hazards associated with climate change, being more dependent on their local ecological systems and having a lower adaptive capacity (e.g., less wealth and mobility). Future generations also do not directly enjoy the benefits of the current consumption that causes climate change, but they will inherit a host of environmental challenges as a result of it. Thus, climate change seems to be unjust from both an intergenerational and global perspective, although the exact nature of this injustice and how to respond to it are contested. This issue is often referred to as climate justice (53, 59–61). Central to climate justice is determining the moral status and significance of future generations and distant contemporaries, as well as working out what practices would be just with respect to them. These are conceptually and ethically interesting and difficult issues that have been extensively discussed by ethicists (62–64).

Finally, some environmental ethicists have suggested that we stand in a justice relationship to nonhuman environmental entities, such as species and ecological systems (47). The central idea here is that our species is taking more than our fair share of ecological resources; for example, we consume ~25% of net primary plant production, use over a third of the terrestrial surface of the earth for agriculture, and have fully or overexploited 87% of the world's fisheries (65, 66). In this view, we have responsibilities of distributive justice to make more resources available for other species and of restitutive justice to make up for past harms caused to other species, populations, and ecological systems. The question whether nonhuman organisms and collectives (ecosystems and species) are the sorts of entities that can be owed justice, from the perspective of ethics (as opposed to law), remains a contested issue in environmental ethics, closely tied to the issue of the moral status of these entities (see Sections 5.3 and 5.4 below). If they do not have moral status, then they cannot be due justice. However, even if they have moral status, it does not follow that they are appropriate recipients of justice because one could hold that justice only applies to a subset of the beings that have moral status (37, 39).

#### 5. NONHUMAN VALUES IN ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS

## 5.1. Ethics and Sentient Animals

One key approach to environmental ethics focuses on the moral status, and ethical treatment, of individual animals. Most commonly, moral status is attributed on the basis of animals' subjective experiential welfare, particularly animals' capacity to feel pain (for shorthand, we call this sentience). Singer's *Animal Liberation* (33) first championed this view in recent ethical debates. Singer argued that beings who can experience suffering and pleasure have morally relevant interests and that where beings have similar interests, irrespective of species, these interests should be taken equally into account. This argument both attributed high moral significance to nonhuman sentient animals and underpinned Singer's claim that focusing moral significance on species membership, rather than on the possession of sentience, is speciesism. The basic idea that sentience is a sufficient condition for moral status is widely accepted in environmental ethics, even by those who do not regard it as a necessary condition.

Sentience is not the only morally relevant capacity that can be attributed to animals. Singer (67) also argues that, in addition to sentience, some animals are self-conscious and have preferences to live, and that killing a being that has a sense of itself as a distinct entity with a future and that prefers to live is worse than killing a being without such a preference. In an alternative and highly significant account, Regan (34, p. 243) argued that all adult mammals have equal moral significance because they are what he calls experiencing "subjects-of-a-life." He takes this to encompass being able to feel pain, to have desires, to have ends of one's own, to have memories and expectations, and to have a sense of oneself as persisting over time. Another recent group of relational positions in environmental ethics argues that, although we have some basic obligations to all sentient animals, we have additional or stronger obligations toward certain animals, not on the basis of their capacities, but rather because of our special relations with them, for instance, animals that we have domesticated (68, 69).

Although almost everyone agrees that some nonhuman animals are sentient, it is sometimes argued that possessing sentience is not morally relevant (70), or that sentience does not provide the basis for much moral significance, even though it is sufficient for moral status (71). For these ethicists, what matters ethically is, for instance, being able to recognize and respect another's moral worth or being a rational language user. But, as Nobis (72) and others point out, this objection also raises concerns about the moral significance of certain human beings—infants and those with severe mental disabilities—who are equally unable to recognize and respect others' moral worth.

Among environmental ethicists, a further objection is that an ethical focus on individual humans and animals is not environmental at all. From biocentric perspectives (Section 5.2 below), it is argued that sentience-centered views draw the scope of morally relevant individuals too narrowly. From more holistic views, such as ecocentrism (Section 5.3), it is maintained that the focus on individuals is environmentally inappropriate; we should instead focus on ecological wholes, such as ecosystems.

#### 5.2. Ethical Biocentrism

Ethical biocentrism is used to describe ethical positions in which all living things have moral status. One early form of ethical biocentrism, based on the idea of reverence for life, was proposed by Albert Schweitzer in *The Philosophy of Civilization* (73). More recently, a number of biocentric approaches have been systematically developed (11, 28, 41, 74–77). Though unified by a focus on the ethical importance of individual living things, these approaches disagree about what characterizes a living thing and why those characteristics might be thought of as morally relevant; whether

some living things are more morally significant than others; and whether the value of life is just one among a broader, plural set of values conveying moral relevance, or is the only such value.

Although exact interpretations differ, most biocentric ethicists argue that all living things can be benefited and harmed, that therefore they have interests or a good of their own, and that this good is something we should respect. A significant divide exists, nevertheless, between those who argue that all living things are of equal value and those who maintain that some living things are more morally significant than others. Taylor (11) argues for a position of biocentric egalitarianism, a view shared by Sterba (77). However, most contemporary biocentric ethicists (41, 74, 76) disagree, arguing that the possession of more complex psychological capacities, such as sentience, gives beings that possess them a higher level of moral significance.

This movement to inegalitarianism helps avoid some common objections to biocentrism. For instance, it is often argued that biocentric egalitarianism is completely impractical because we cannot avoid constantly harming living things; that it is simply absurd to think that we must take the welfare of bacteria into account, particularly if we are to regard them as of equal significance to cognitively complex animals; and that biocentric egalitarianism wrongly excludes morally relevant considerations, such as sentience and self-awareness (76). However, inegalitarian biocentrism avoids this critique. Being alive need not be the only criterion for moral significance. An *Escherichia coli* and a wolf are both alive, and this may be morally relevant, but additionally, that wolves have a mind (or brain) and are both sentient and social may also be relevant. An ethic that maintains it is no worse to kill a wolf than an *E. coli* must surely be misguided. Even though biocentric ethicists want to hold on to egalitarianism in principle, they often adopt practical principles that appear to conflict with egalitarianism—principles that prioritize some living things over others (most prominently, 11); this has led to charges of inconsistency. Inegalitarian views, however, appear to have plausible responses to the above objections (39).

### 5.3. Holistic Ethics: Ecocentrism

Some leading forms of environmental ethics argue that our moral focus should not be on individual organisms but on ecological collectives, e.g., ecosystems or the land. Aldo Leopold's work, especially his essay "The Land Ethic" (10), has been highly influential here. Leopold extends the moral sphere outward from the human community to include the biotic community: "The land ethic simply enlarges the boundaries of the community to include soils, waters, plants and animals, or collectively, the land" (10, p. 204). Leopold famously defends a land ethic in which "[a] thing is right when it tends to preserve the integrity, stability, and beauty of the biotic community. It is wrong when it tends otherwise" (10, p. 224). This is not to say that Leopold thought individuals—or human individuals, at least—are ethically irrelevant. He is usually interpreted as arguing that we also ethically need to take the land directly into account (see Reference 78), although this interpretation is occasionally disputed in favor of seeing Leopold as an anthropocentric pragmatist (see Reference 79).

Leopold's ecocentric and highly suggestive ethic was not systematic; in particular, he did not suggest ways of resolving any conflict between individuals and the land. Modern environmental ethicists have endeavored to develop a more secure underpinning for ecocentric ethics (22, 37, 80). These accounts as to why ecological communities or ecosystems should be accorded moral status differ considerably. Callicott (78) argues—drawing on Hume and Darwin—that just as we have emotional loyalties and moral responsibilities toward the human communities in which we are located, so too we should have such loyalties and responsibilities to the ecological communities of which we are also members. Rolston (22) focuses on ecosystems as wild processes that create and nurture life; we should not value the organisms, the products of the system, without recognizing

the systemic value of the processes that produced them. Johnson (37) argues that ecosystems should be understood as quasi individuals and that we can make sense of the idea that they have interests that do not necessarily coincide with the interests of their members.

However, such ecocentric views are often seen as problematic. One difficulty concerns what an ecological community, or an ecosystem, might be thought to be, and another is whether it is the kind of thing to which we can attribute interests. Some have raised questions about whether ecosystems are sufficiently cohesive, unified, and bounded (spatially and temporally) for us to think of them as having interests of their own (35, 81). Although concepts such as ecosystem health and ecosystem integrity are often used to refer to what is good for ecosystems (82, 83), it can be argued that these are merely metaphors that portray human preferences as though they were the interests of ecosystems (84, 85). Another issue concerns how we can justify the kind and level of ecological organization that ought to be the focus of our ethical attention. Given that there are many different ways of delineating ecosystems (topographically, by trophic hierarchies, by nutrient budgets, by energy flow patterns), as well as many different kinds of ecological wholes in addition to ecosystems (communities, biomes, ecotopes, etc.), which is the right one to serve as the basis for assessing interests (81, 85)? The more indistinct, incoherent, rapidly changing, and arbitrarily defined ecosystems or communities seem to be, the more difficult certain kinds of ecocentric ethics become to maintain, especially those that depend on the idea of ecosystems having a good or interests that can be set back or damaged.

## 5.4. Holistic Ethics: Species

Many environmental ethicists who defend ecocentrism also defend holism with respect to species, arguing that species have value distinct from that of the individual organisms that comprise them. Species, and populations, are certainly instrumentally valuable. They provide food, medicine, shelter, recreation, enjoyable experiences, knowledge, and more. The question here is whether they have value not based on their usefulness to us. There are two ways in which both ecosystems and species might have noninstrumental value. They might have interests or a good of their own that we ought to care about (moral status) or they might be valuable in their own right even if they lack interests (another form of intrinsic value).

The claim that species have interests distinct from the organisms that comprise them faces challenges rather like those raised by the claim that ecosystems have interests distinct from the organisms that constitute them. For one thing, it is not always easy to define the boundaries of species. There are a number of different species concepts—ecological, genetic, phylogenetic, reproductive, and so on—that divide living things up somewhat differently. However, pluralism in species concepts does not itself mean that there is not one that might be more important or useful in ethics (just as there are more useful ones in ecological or evolutionary biology). In fact, most proponents of the direct worth or value of species emphasize the concept that species are distinctive forms of life (12, 86). In this view, what makes two organisms conspecific is that they are genetically related individuals who share a common evolutionary history and way of going about the world (i.e., getting food, avoiding predators, and reproducing). However, even if species can be delineated in this way, it is still not clear whether they are properly regarded as having interests or a good. We commonly talk about species this way—as being healthy or as if things are good for them. However, species do not have minds, so they cannot have psychological interests, and they are not alive, so they cannot have biological interests. Individual wolves, silver maples, and human beings can be harmed and die, but Canis lupis, Acer saccharinum, and Homo sapiens cannot. The difficulties with grounding the interests of species have led many environmental ethicists to doubt whether they do have a good of their own that we should care about (39).

Even if species do not have interests, they may be valuable in other ways. Some species, in some places, have high cultural, symbolic, and religious importance, and they are valuable for that reason. Particular species (or forms of life) can be valuable for being amazing, beautiful, or rare. These types of values are not instrumental, i.e., they are not based on what the species or populations do for us, but they are valuer dependent. That is, they depend on our culturally, religiously, or aesthetically valuing them. Thus, they are intrinsically valuable in one sense (noninstrumental) but not in another sense (independent of their relations to other things).

However, some theorists, most prominently Rolston (12, p. 111), have argued that species also have human-independent intrinsic values: "These things count, whether or not there is anybody to do the counting." In this view, each species is valuable in itself because it is a unique and distinctive form of life resulting from human-independent evolutionary processes stretching back into deep time. This is sometimes called natural value (see Section 5.5 below). Many environmental ethicists, conservation biologists, and environmentalists find this view compelling (86, 87). However, this type of value is highly contested (32).

Finally, some theories have argued that species have distinctive, noninstrumental values by virtue of the contribution they make to biodiversity, which is itself valuable (88). This is sometimes called contributory or compositional value. Whether this view is justified depends on biodiversity having noninstrumental value. Moreover, the view is often accused of committing the part-whole fallacy (89). The fact that a whole or composite has value does not mean that each part that comprises it does. Each person may have inherent worth, but it does not follow that each of their organs or cells does so as well.

The issue of whether species have intrinsic value or moral status is important in environmental ethics because it is this sort of value that would ground duties and obligations to them (22). If we have a duty of justice to other species, or an obligation to them to prevent them from going extinct from anthropogenic causes, it must be because they have value independent of us that makes a claim on us as moral agents.

#### 5.5. Wildness Value

One other important value here is wildness. Although not directly relevant to moral status, wildness is often argued to be of intrinsic value (in some sense) and motivates many claims for environmental protection. The idea that wildness or naturalness is of particular value has a long history, especially in the United States. It is embedded in the US Wilderness Act [16 U.S.C. 1131-1136(2)(c)], which defines wilderness as follows: "in contrast with those areas where man and his works dominate the landscape...where the earth and its community of life are untrammeled by man, where man himself is a visitor who does not remain." Wildness or naturalness is significant in environmental ethics; indeed Preston (90, p. 464) goes so far as to maintain that "the presumption central to environmental ethics is that human actions need to be circumscribed in such a way that the human-independent processes remain intact." One difficult issue here is what exactly wildness or naturalness should be taken to mean. Most agree that these terms refer to independence from humans in some sense. In Elliot's influential view (91) when we value objects or places for their naturalness, we value them because they have not been "shaped by human hand"; they are not of human origin. Ecological restorations, then, Elliot argues, do not have the same value as the natural originals because they lack continuity with a natural past. Hettinger & Throop (92, p. 12) defend a broader view of wildness as being "not humanized," where humanization means "influenced, altered or controlled by humans." In this view, being of nonhuman origin is just one way of being wild; and wildness is not absolute but can come in degrees.

The association of wildness with wilderness has been particularly problematic. It has been argued that wildness can be found all around us, even within cities, and that an understanding of wildness value as excluding humans (as in the traditional US wilderness idea) can lead to the displacement of indigenous peoples who do or did live in places called wildernesses, and is more broadly misanthropic (50, 93). Others have argued that—especially in an era of global anthropogenic environmental change—continued emphasis on wildness value and pristine nature is misplaced; we should instead pay more ethical attention to environments influenced by people (94). Those who defend the value of wildness—for instance McKibben (95)—find the pervasive human impacts of climate change particularly threatening. Even authors who are less inclined to come to this view about climate change itself (given its unintended, accidental nature) see geoengineering proposals intentionally to influence global climate as reducing wildness in ethically disturbing ways (see Section 8.2) (90).

## 5.6. Hybrid or Value-Pluralist Views

Environmental ethicists have argued for the moral status of many different kinds of beings and things, and have defended a variety of values. Some positions in environmental ethics are value monist—arguing that there is ultimately only one kind of master value (e.g., positive sentient experience, or flourishing) and that other apparent values can be analyzed in terms of or be reduced to that one value (20). Others argue instead for forms of value pluralism, wherein different kinds of things and beings may all have moral status (37) or multiple irreducible values—such as rationality or sentience—can be simultaneously defended. The central problem for value monists is to identify a master fundamental value, justify its significance, and explain how to translate other values into its terms. The central problem for value pluralists is to provide a way of prioritizing or balancing competing values when they come into conflict. Value monists generally endorse what is called strong value commensurability: Because there is a master value, all values end up being commensurable with one another, i.e., all values can be measured as some quantity of the master value. A pluralist view may adopt weak value commensurability, where one can consistently rank values and apply some kind of lexical priority rule where one value (or amount of the value) is always given priority over another value (or amount of the value). Other value pluralists reject such regular ranking patterns, arguing for different forms of value incommensurability, where value rankings either vary by context (so in some cases one might prioritize one value, in other cases a different value) or rankings cannot be done at all because rational choices cannot be made between them. Value-pluralist positions have been widely adopted in environmental ethics, on the basis that, as Carter (96, p. 76) puts it, "each value continually exercises its pull." Nonetheless, the issue remains unresolved.

### 6. ETHICAL THEORY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ETHICS

Environmental ethicists have very different views about what has value/moral status. However, this is not the only important divergence of views; an additional difference concerns what one should do with the values one adopts. Values need to fit into an ethical theory to guide action. For instance, is ethics primarily about maximizing what is good and minimizing what is bad? Or, alternatively, is it about what we owe to each other as morally important beings (or things)? Or should ethics, instead, be understood as being about the development of good character, making ourselves into the best person we can be?

Environmental ethicists—like ethicists in general—disagree profoundly about these questions, and these disagreements have shaped the field of environmental ethics. We review the three

leading, but conflicting, approaches to ethical theory in environmental ethics: consequentialism, deontology, and virtue theory.

## 6.1. Consequentialism

Consequentialism is the ethical theory that we should aim at bringing about best consequences through our actions, rules, or practices. Standard forms of consequentialism are maximizing (aim at the best expected outcomes of all available options) and require us to take the whole outcome into account (including the outcomes of omitting to do things we could have done). Within this broad description, environmental ethicists have defended different forms of consequentialism, in particular, by proposing varying views of good outcomes. Leading consequentialist positions in animal ethics argue either that we should maximize happiness (net of suffering) or that we should maximize satisfied preferences (net of frustrated ones) across all the beings that can suffer or have preferences (97). However, consequentialist approaches to environmental ethics need not concern either experiences or preferences. Attfield (20, 74) argues for a form of biocentric consequentialism, where the good (to be maximized) is organismic flourishing and the bad (to be minimized) is inhibiting such organismic flourishing, although, he notes, the flourishing of some organisms is of more moral significance than others. And holistic ethical views may also be consequentialist—aiming at maximizing ecosystem health or species flourishing. It has plausibly been argued that Leopold's land ethic (10, p. 224), with its outcome-oriented advocacy of what "tends to preserve the integrity, stability and beauty," itself endorses a form of consequentialism (98). So, consequentialists have very diverse ideas of what actually constitutes the good, even though they are bound together by the forward-looking aim at bringing about best outcomes.

## 6.2. Deontological and Rights Views

Deontological views, by contrast, maintain that maximizing the good is not all that matters and that we are permitted, and sometimes required, not to maximize the good, perhaps, where doing so would require us to be unjust. What matters in this view is what we owe to one another, rather than the creation of better or worse states of the world. From a deontological perspective, consequentialist approaches to environmental ethics may create problematic commitments; for example, they may imply that we should minimize wild animal suffering. But ultimately this could require us to manage ecosystems in ways that change their structure, including reducing the number of pain-inflicting carnivorous animals or feeding wild animals in times when food is scarce (99). Deontological thinkers may argue that this is interfering in ecological matters that are not our moral business (68, 100).

Deontological theories in environmental ethics emphasize rules, principles, duties, rights, or some combination of these, rather than maximizing the good. Rights theories form the most important group of views here, particularly those maintaining that humans have environmental rights. Hayward (101), for example, argues that humans have a right to an environment adequate for health and well-being and that this right should be constitutionalized. The idea that there are no good grounds for denying some nonhuman animals the basic rights that humans are believed to have, such as the right not to be tortured, killed, or confined, has also been widely defended (34, 102). Donaldson & Kymlicka (69) move beyond this, arguing for citizenship rights for domesticated animals in addition to the basic rights that all animals are argued to have; Cochrane (103), on the other hand, argues that, although animals have some basic rights, these rights do not include the right to liberty because animals are not autonomous subjects.

Although accounts of animals' rights differ (for example, in terms of whether keeping companion animals violates their rights), all agree that rights possession gives animals very powerful

protections, e.g., against being killed for food or used in painful experiments. This view can cause conflicts with other positions in environmental ethics—particularly where it is argued that sentient animals are causing damage to ecosystems or driving species to extinction (e.g., when sentient animals become invasive). In such cases, ecocentric ethicists argue that the animals should be culled, but animal rights theorists maintain that culling violates animals' rights (22, 34).

Deontological approaches are not confined to human or animal rights, although rights language is rarely used for nonsentient living entities. Taylor (11), for instance, argues that we have duties to respect individual living organisms and that these organisms cannot be entered into calculations for maximizing the good.

## 6.3. Virtue Ethics

Virtue ethics has recently undergone a significant revival and has been strongly taken up by environmental ethicists, beginning with Hill's paper "Ideals of Human Excellence and Preserving Natural Environments" (104). In the past decade, a series of papers and a number of important books arguing for environmental virtue ethics have been published, most prominently Sandler's 2007 Character and Environment: A Virtue-Oriented Approach to Environmental Ethics (105).

In a virtue ethics approach, actions, practices, and policies are evaluated in terms of whether they express or achieve virtue, as opposed to whether they promote appropriate consequences or conform to duty. For example, when evaluating different forms of animal agriculture, a virtue ethics approach asks which virtues are operative, e.g., compassion, ecological sensitivity, and efficiency, and then what form or method of animal agriculture best accomplishes these. Thus, the normative or prescriptive content of virtue ethics comes from substantive accounts of the character traits that are virtues, e.g., respect, humility, compassion, courage, ecological sensitivity, efficiency, and simplicity, and those that are vices, e.g., callousness, shortsightedness, arrogance, cowardice, profligacy, and laziness. Therefore, much research in environmental virtue ethics involves specifying which character traits are virtues and the dispositions (cognitive, affective, practical, and conative) that constitute them (106, 107). Decisions concerning which character traits are understood as virtues and which are vices are closely tied to what account of environmental values is most justified. Character traits that would be justified as virtues on a biocentric or holistic value system would be very different from those that would be justified on a strong anthropocentric value system.

Although virtue ethics has recently grown in prominence within environmental ethics, it is by no means the dominant view. However, even among those who reject a virtue ethics approach to environmental ethics in favor of consequentialism, deontology, or pragmatism (Section 7.2 below), there is now widespread recognition that attention to character is crucial for addressing our ecological challenges. What kinds of people we are matters because our character traits affect whether we act virtuously, bring about good consequences, and do our duty. Moreover, good environmental character is often beneficial to its possessor by fostering connection to place, opening her to rewarding and meaningful experiences, and making living an ethically good life more enjoyable.

## 7. CONTRASTING APPROACHES

Despite the fact that these analytic and theoretically oriented approaches to environmental ethics have dominated the field, two big-picture cultural critiques—philosophical ecofeminism and environmental pragmatism—argue that these approaches have gone the wrong way in terms of what really matters.

#### 7.1. Ecofeminism

Ecofeminism is a diverse movement sharing one basic premise: There is a mutually reinforcing link between the domination of nature and the domination of women (108). As Reuther puts it:

Women must see that there can be no liberation for them and no solution to the ecological crisis within a society whose fundamental model of relationship is domination. They must unite the demands of the women's movement with those of the ecological movement to envisage a radical reshaping of the basic socioeconomic relations and the underlying values of this society. (109, p. 204)

Even though ecofeminism maintains that there is a connection between the domination of women and of nature, there is disagreement about the nature of the link between these twin oppressions. And more recently, most interpretations of ecofeminism have been expanded further to include oppressions of class and race.

Although ecofeminism is diverse, ecofeminists have shared concerns about the approaches to environmental ethics we have discussed here. First, many ecofeminists argue that these forms of environmental ethics emphasize rationality at the expense of emotion, denying the role emotion does—and should—play in ethical decision making (110). Second, ecofeminists argue that these approaches to environmental ethics work with abstract principles of justice that are supposed to apply to all people everywhere, ignoring the complex and particular nature of the ethical situations that we usually encounter. Third, ecofeminists tend to be wary of identifying particular capacities that permit beings or things to qualify for moral status (111). This, they argue, potentially sets up value dualisms (such as sentient/nonsentient), a practice ecofeminists resist; it displays (according to ecofeminists) the characteristics of essentialism, abstraction, hierarchy, and individualism; and it assumes the moral insignificance of relationships (112). In contrast, ecofeminists generally defend ideas of a relational self, whereby individuals are understood as partly constituted by their relations and in which particular caring relationships, significantly featuring the emotions, are key to ethical decision making.

This critique more obviously applies to some traditions than others. Those environmental ethicists that, broadly, fall within a Kantian tradition or that emphasize rights (11, 34) are indeed strongly individualist and emphasize the importance of emotionally detached reasoning, maintaining that rationality, impartiality, and individualism are in fact strengths of their ethical positions. Equally, utilitarians, such as Singer (33), maintain that one should not disproportionately favor those to whom one has personal emotional attachments. Virtue ethicists, however, defend positions much closer to those of ecofeminists, especially when emphasizing the importance of virtues such as empathy and compassion. Any rapprochement between these approaches to environmental ethics and ecofeminism might well begin here.

## 7.2. Environmental Pragmatism

Most approaches to environmental ethics, including those discussed here, are theory oriented. At their heart are normative theories, e.g., consequentialism, deontology, or virtue ethics, and theories of value, i.e., accounts of which things matter and why. However, one family of views, known as environmental pragmatism, does not share these theory-oriented commitments and is skeptical about the prospects of identifying a single, most justified theory of environmental ethics. Moreover, environmental pragmatists typically believe that the search for such theories obscures the more important problems of responding effectively to environmental challenges. Therefore, environmental pragmatists tend to be highly pluralistic and contextual about value. Because these

views do not accept the idea of basic, fundamental values to which we can appeal, they tend to emphasize the importance of a process of inclusive, collaborative discourse in the evaluation and justification of practices and policies (113).

Environmental pragmatists tend to have strong practical commitments to achieving outcomes that effectively address problems and to using whatever conceptual resources are needed for this. Thus, pragmatists can appeal to rights or intrinsic values in nature, not in a foundational or deeply theoretical sense but as ways of representing people's value commitments within deliberative and discursive processes (16). Many environmental pragmatists argue that the theoretical debates in environmental ethics are largely moot because different theoretical perspectives can converge in practice when making policy. For instance, if anthropocentrism is sufficiently reflective—that is, if it takes future people, the services ecosystems provide to people, and other human cultural and aesthetic needs seriously enough—there will be, in practice, convergence between anthropocentric and nonanthropocentric environmental policy (32). Therefore, rather than arguing over contentious, nonanthropocentric ethical views we ought to just make use of the anthropocentric arguments for environmental protection that are much more likely to be popularly persuasive than nonanthropocentric ones: If we degrade the environment, it will harm us in the long run; we have a responsibility to future generations to take care of the planet; and justice and human rights require that we not pollute the environments in which other people live or destabilize the ecological conditions on which they depend (32, 114, 115).

## 8. TRENDS AND DIRECTIONS

In the past decade, environmental ethics has developed in new directions in terms of its closer relationships with other disciplines, engagement with emerging technologies, and responses to rising concern about anthropogenic climate change. These trends look likely to continue and intensify.

## 8.1. Growing Links with Other Disciplines

As the field of environmental ethics has matured, it has developed closer connections to other disciplines, especially within the biological and social sciences. In some cases, ethical understandings of environmental problems have changed as a result of developments within these fields. For example, the virtues recommended by environmental virtue ethics have changed as experimental psychology has discovered more about what motivates conservation behavior (116). Likewise, claims about the value of ecosystem health have been affected (and in some cases undermined) by shifts in the way that ecology understands ecosystems (81). In other cases, work within environmental ethics has challenged assumptions used by other fields in their assessment of environmental problems. For example, ethical critiques have challenged economic conceptions of value, political representations of the interests harmed by climate change, and concepts, such as biodiversity, that play an important role in conservation biology (89, 117–119).

## 8.2. Links with Emerging Technologies

Technology has always been significant to environmental ethics because it is the efficient cause of many of our environmental problems; is frequently promoted as part of the solution to those problems; and often mediates human-nature interactions, relationships, and experiences. As a result, environmental ethicists have often engaged in ethical analysis and evaluation of emerging technologies, an interest that has grown significantly in recent years. Synthetic biology, artificial intelligence, genetic modification, nanotechnology, agricultural technologies, geoengineering (see

Section 8.3.3 below), and new forms of energy generation have been of particular importance to the field in recent years (120–124).

## 8.3. Environmental Ethics and Climate Change

Global environmental changes—including urbanization, the spread of invasive species, and, in particular, the impacts of climate change—have become important issues for environmental ethics, in some cases leading environmental ethicists to rethink their prioritization of environmental values.

**8.3.1.** Ecological restoration and climate change. The practice of ecological restoration has long been contested in environmental ethics. In 1982, Elliot (91) argued that ecological restoration could not restore all the value lost in an ecological destruction, even if the restoration was in every way identical to the predestruction original. One of the reasons we value particular environments, he argued, is because they are not of human origin (they are, in this sense, wild or natural). Because restorations are of human origin, they lack the value of naturalness, even if they recreate other values. Katz (87), developing this view, argued that restorations are artifacts, i.e., products of human design and interests, and should be understood as examples of human domination over nature. Not everyone accepted this judgment; others maintained that restorations might instead be seen as healing or reparatory, bringing back lost values, and encouraging local communities and individuals to engage in active, positive relationships with the nonhuman world (125).

Climate change throws this debate into a new context: A changing climate means that aiming at a goal of historical fidelity in restoration will frequently be impractical. This has generated a discussion about both the meaning and significance of historical fidelity in restorations. Although most environmental ethicists still retain a place for historical fidelity (126, 127), others maintain that we should, as a practical necessity, de-emphasize the value of historical fidelity in restorations and instead emphasize other goals and values particular restorations might fulfill or protect (128, 129).

8.3.2. Species preservation, assisted migration, and climate change. As the climate changes, species that are unable to move (for instance, due to a barrier caused by urban expansion) and that cannot easily adapt to rising temperatures or changing precipitation patterns may be threatened with extinction. From most perspectives in environmental ethics (see Section 5.4 above), species are valuable for instrumental reasons or because they are believed to have some kind of intrinsic value. As ethicists such as Nolt (130) argue, because species are valuable and humans are (in some sense) morally responsible for the threat, species loss matters ethically. One way of preventing such species loss, for selected species at least, would be for humans to deliberately relocate members of threatened species to new more suitable habitats, a practice called assisted migration, assisted colonization, or managed relocation. Such relocations, however, have provoked substantial recent ethical debates (131–134). Some argue that assisted migration poses a significant risk of creating new invasive species (135), thereby threatening species and ecosystem values in the recipient systems. Others argue that, even in cases where invasiveness is not a worry, because many species carry place-specific historic and cultural values and their ecological roles in native ecosystems are context dependent, their value will not transfer to new locations (136). But not all ethical responses to assisted migration are negative. Environmental ethicists also argue that, in at least some cases, assisted migration can protect important values without threatening others and may contribute positively to the new location, either ecologically or culturally (137, 138).

One important difficulty that has emerged from debates about both restoration and assisted migration in the context of climate change is that values traditionally important in environmental ethics may no longer be pursued simultaneously. For example, in the past, setting aside areas of

land from human use would preserve both wildness values and species values. Climate change, however, in some cases, means that human intervention is necessary to preserve species, so it may become necessary to choose between preserving wildness and protecting species. How to negotiate such decisions will be an important area of future debate for environmental ethics.

**8.3.3.** Geoengineering, ethics, and climate change. The threat of significant negative impacts from climate change, and failure to successfully conclude binding international agreements on restraining greenhouse gas emissions, has precipitated proposals for geoengineering (intentionally manipulating the climate in response to climate change). Two main forms of geoengineering have been suggested: those that remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere (e.g., carbon capture and storage technology, afforestation, and ocean fertilization) and those that reduce the amount of solar radiation reaching Earth by blocking or reflecting sunlight (e.g., space or desert mirrors, cloud whitening, injecting sulfur aerosols into the stratosphere). These proposals have generated significant debate among ethicists. First, some are concerned about geoengineering in principle, arguing that the willingness to contemplate geoengineering raises significantly troubling questions about human worldviews, values, and attitudes. Jamieson (139), in an early paper on geoengineering ethics, argued that intentional climate change would reinforce human arrogance and domination of nature, even if it were successful, a concern substantially developed by Hamilton (140). Preston (90) argues that, by creating an artificial climate, geoengineering conflicts with that highly significant strand of environmental ethics for which naturalness is an important value (see Section 5.5 above). In addition, some argue that the deliberate manipulation of the climate appears to create human moral responsibilities for its effects that a natural climate would not create (141). Second, geoengineering appears to present a moral hazard problem [although Hale (142) argues that the precise nature of this problem is rarely clearly formulated]. If people come to believe that the availability of a geoengineering option will protect them and their children from the negative impacts of climate change, they are less likely to reduce emissions now; yet this in itself makes the implementation of geoengineering more likely (143). Third, geoengineering raises problems about the justice of procedures and outcomes: Who should decide when to use geoengineering technology and in consultation with whom? If particular communities are not meaningfully consulted, but are significantly impacted, this appears to raise issues of environmental justice. And, in addition, present generations cannot consult future generations or nonhumans at all (144, 145). Fourth, each proposed geoengineering technology raises its own ethical issues, including issues of participative and distributive justice, as well as the likely effects of the technology on animals, organisms, ecosystems, and species. Although many (but not all; see Reference 146) environmental ethicists nonetheless conclude that we should continue research into geoengineering technologies, anticipating a time in the future when using geoengineering might turn out to be the lesser of two evils, responses to geoengineering move from the deeply unenthusiastic (90, 139, 147) to viewing it as a marring evil (148). Almost all environmental ethicists maintain that we should change our behaviors and economic systems, rather than further manipulate the climate. However, as threats from climate change become more acute, this debate in environmental ethics is likely to grow and intensify.

#### **SUMMARY POINTS**

1. Environmental ethics, a growing and diverse subfield of philosophy since the 1970s, examines ethical questions regarding human relationships with the nonhuman environment.

- 2. Researchers in the field investigate which things in the world have value and how much or what kind of value they have.
- Human values to be fostered in human-environment interactions include justice, sustainability, and instrumental values, such as ecosystem services, recreation, and natural resources.
- 4. Many environmental ethicists believe nonhuman entities and places are also bearers of value, including sentient nonhuman animals, individual organisms, ecosystems, and species.
- 5. Environmental ethicists employ three main theoretical approaches: consequentialism, deontology, and virtue ethics.
- Ecofeminism and environmental pragmatism have challenged mainstream views and methodologies within environmental ethics.
- 7. Climate change and the emergence of new technologies raise novel ethical challenges and questions that are beginning to be addressed by environmental ethicists.

#### **FUTURE ISSUES**

- What kind of value do humans, sentient animals, organisms, ecosystems, and species have?
- 2. What is required to achieve participatory and distributive justice within environmental policies, institutions, and practices?
- 3. Do any of the three most common ethical theories (consequentialism, deontology, and virtue ethics) provide us with the best guidance about environmental problems either individually or in combination? Or is a new approach needed?
- 4. How, and to what extent, should mainstream environmental ethics respond to the critiques of it offered by ecofeminism and pragmatism?
- 5. How should climate change affect the way that we think about environmental issues such as ecological restoration, species preservation, or the value of wildness?
- 6. Can we responsibly develop powerful emerging technologies, such as geoengineering, nanotechnology, and synthetic biology?

#### DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

## LITERATURE CITED

- Preston CJ, ed. 2005. Epistemology and environmental philosophy. Special issue. Ethics Environ. 10(2):1– 216
- 2. Odenbaugh J. 2007. Seeing the forest and the trees. *Philos. Sci.* 74:628–41
- Carlson A. 2008. Nature and Landscape: An Introduction to Environmental Aesthetics. New York: Columbia Univ. Press

- 4. Jenkins W, Chapple C. 2011. Religion and environment. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 36:441-63
- 5. Kelbessa W. 2005. The rehabilitation of indigenous environmental ethics in Africa. Diogenes 52(3):17-34
- James SP, Cooper D, eds. 2008. Buddhism and the environment. Special edition. Contemp. Buddhism 8(2):93–108
- Brown C, Toadvine T, eds. 2003. Eco-Phenomenology: Back to the Earth Itself. Albany: State Univ. N.Y. Press
- 8. Foltz B, Frodeman B, eds. 2004. Rethinking Nature: Essays in Environmental Philosophy. Bloomington: Indiana Univ. Press
- 9. Westra L. Robinson T, eds. 1997. The Greeks and the Environment. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield
- Leopold A. 1968 [1949]. A Sand County Almanac: And Sketches Here and There. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press. 2nd ed.
- 11. Taylor P. 1986. Respect for Nature. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- 12. Rolston H. 1986. Philosophy Gone Wild. New York: Prometheus
- Elliot R, Gare A, eds. 1983. Environmental Philosophy: A Collection of Readings. Milton Keynes, UK: Open Univ. Press
- Des Jardins JR. 1993. Environmental Ethics: An Introduction to Environmental Philosophy. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth
- 15. VanDeVeer D, Pierce C, eds. 1993. The Environmental Ethics and Policy Book. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth
- Minteer BA. 2012. Refounding Environmental Ethics: Pragmatism, Principle, and Practice. Philadelphia: Temple Univ. Press
- 17. O'Neill J. 1992. The varieties of intrinsic value. Monist 75(2):119-37
- 18. Jamieson D. 2008. Ethics and the Environment: An Introduction. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- McShane K. 2007. Why environmental ethics shouldn't give up on intrinsic value. *Environ. Ethics* 29(1):43–61
- 20. Attfield R. 1995. Value, Obligation, and Meta-Ethics. Amsterdam: Rodopi
- 21. Norton BG. 1987. Why Preserve Natural Variety? Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- 22. Rolston H. 1988. Environmental Ethics. Philadelphia: Temple Univ. Press
- 23. Weston A. 1985. Beyond intrinsic value: pragmatism in environmental ethics. Environ. Ethics 7(4):321-39
- Maguire LA, Justus J. 2008. Why intrinsic value is a poor basis for conservation decisions. BioScience 58(10):910–11
- Fox W. 1993. What does the recognition of intrinsic value entail? Trumpeter 10(3). http://trumpeter.athabascau.ca/index.php/trumpet/article/view/379/601
- Callicott JB. 1992. Can a theory of moral sentiments support a genuinely normative environmental ethic? Inquiry 35:183–98
- Warren MA. 2000. Moral Status: Obligations to Persons and Other Living Things. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- 28. Goodpaster KE. 1978. On being morally considerable. J. Philos. 75(6):308-25
- 29. White L Jr. 1967. The historic roots of our ecologic crisis. Science 155(3767):1203-7
- 30. Naess A. 1973. The shallow and the deep, long-range ecology movement. A summary. *Inquiry* 16(1):95–100
- 31. Devall B, Sessions G. 1985. Deep Ecology: Living as if Nature Mattered. Salt Lake City, UT: Gibbs Smith
- 32. Norton BG. 1991. Towards Unity Among Environmentalists. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- 33. Singer P. 1975, Animal Liberation: A New Ethics for Our Treatment of Animals. New York: Avon
- 34. Regan T. 1983. The Case for Animal Rights. Berkeley: Univ. Calif. Press
- 35. Cahen H. 1988. Against the moral considerability of ecosystems. Environ. Ethics 10(3):195-216
- 36. Thompson J. 1990. A refutation of environmental ethics. Environ. Ethics 12:147-60
- 37. Johnson L. 1991. A Morally Deep World. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 38. Nelson M. 1993. A defense of environmental ethics: a reply to Janna Thompson. *Environ. Ethics* 45:245–57
- 39. Sandler R. 2013. The Ethics of Species. London: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 40. Callicott JB. 1980. Animal liberation: a triangular affair. Environ. Ethics 2:311–28
- 41. Varner G. 1998. In Nature's Interests? Interests, Animal Rights and Environmental Ethics. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press

- US Environ. Prot. Agency (EPA). 2013. Plan Ef 2014 Progress Report. Washington, DC: EPA. http://www.epa.gov/compliance/ej/resources/policy/plan-ej-2014/plan-ej-progress-report-2014.pdf
- Camacho D. 1998. Environmental Injustices, Political Struggles: Race, Class, and the Environment. Durham, NC: Duke Univ. Press
- Bullard RD, Mohai P, Saha R, Wright B. 2007. Toxic Wastes and Race at Twenty: 1989–2007. Cleveland, OH: United Church Christ
- Westra L, Lawson B, eds. 2001. Faces of Environmental Racism: Confronting Issues of Global Justice. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield. 2nd ed.
- Sandler R, Pezzullo PC, eds. 2007. Environmental Justice and Environmentalism. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Schlosberg D. 2007. Environmental Justice: Theories, Movements and Nature. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- 48. Shrader-Frechette K. 2002. Environmental Justice: Creating Equality, Reclaiming Democracy. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- 49. Bryant B, ed. 1995. Environmental Justice: Issues, Policies, and Solutions. Washington, DC: Island
- Guha R. 1989. Radical American environmentalism and wilderness preservation: a third world critique. Environ. Ethics 11:71–83
- 51. Shiva V. 1999. Biopiracy: The Plunder of Nature and Knowledge. Cambridge, MA: South End
- 52. Hassoun N. 2012. The problem of debt-for-nature swaps from a human rights perspective. *J. Appl. Philos.* 29(4):359–77
- Gardiner S. 2009. The Perfect Moral Storm: The Ethical Tragedy of Climate Change. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- 54. Singer P. 2004. One World: The Ethics of Globalization. New Haven, CT: Yale Univ. Press
- 55. World Comm. Environ. Dev. 1987. Our Common Future. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Thompson PB. 2012. Sustainability: ethical foundations. Nat. Educ. Knowledge 3(10):11. http://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/sustainability-ethical-foundations-71373239
- Norton BG. 2005. Sustainability: A Philosophy of Adaptive Ecosystem Management. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press
- Thompson PB. 2010. The Agrarian Vision: Sustainability and Environmental Ethics. Lexington: Univ. Ky. Press
- 59. Posner E, Sunstein C. 2008. Climate change justice. Georget. Law 7. 96:1565-612
- 60. Caney S. 2012. Just emissions. Philos. Public Aff. 40(4):255-300
- 61. Broome J. 2012. Climate Matters. New York: Norton
- 62. Parfit D. 1984. Reasons and Persons. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- 63. Mulgan T. 2006. Future People. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- 64. Roberts M, Wasserman D, eds. 2009. Harming Future Persons. New York: Springer
- U.N. Food Agric. Organ. (UNFAO). 2012. State of the World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Rome: Food Agric. Organ. U.N.
- 66. Haberl H, Erb KH, Krausmann F, Gaube V, Bondeau A, et al. 2007. Quantifying and mapping the human appropriation of net primary production in Earth's terrestrial ecosystems. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 104(31):12942–47
- 67. Singer P. 1979. Killing humans and killing animals. Inquiry 22:145-56
- 68. Palmer C. 2010. Animal Ethics in Context. New York: Columbia Univ. Press
- Donaldson S, Kymlicka W. 2011. Zoopolis: A Political Theory of Animal Rights. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- 70. Carruthers P. 1992. The Animals Issue. London: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 71. Cohen C. 1986. The case for the use of animals in biomedical research. N. Engl. 7. Med. 315(14):865–70
- Nobis N. 2004. Carl Cohen's 'kind' argument for animal rights and against animal rights. J. Appl. Philos. 21(1):43–59
- 73. Schweitzer A. 1987 [1923]. The Philosophy of Civilization. New York: Prometheus
- 74. Attfield R. 1987. A Theory of Value and Obligation. Beckenham, UK: Croom Helm
- 75. Agar N. 2001. Life's Intrinsic Value. New York: Columbia Univ. Press

- 76. Schmidtz D. 1998. Are all species equal? 7. Appl. Philos. 15:57-67
- 77. Sterba JP. 1998. A biocentrist strikes back. Environ. Ethics 20:361-76
- Callicott JB. 1989. In Defense of the Land Ethic: Essays in Environmental Philosophy. Albany: State Univ. N.Y. Press
- 79. Norton BG. 1988. The constancy of Leopold's land ethic. Conserv. Biol. 2(1):93-102
- Callicott JB, ed. 1987. Companion to 'A Sand County Almanac': Interpretive and Critical Essays. Madison: Univ. Wis. Press
- 81. Sagoff M. 2013. What does environmental protection protect? Ethics Policy Environ. 16(3):239-57
- 82. Costanza R, Norton BG, Haskell BD, eds. 1992. Ecosystem Health: New Goals for Environmental Management. Washington, DC: Island
- Westra L. 1994. An Environmental Proposal for Ethics: The Principle of Integrity. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield
- 84. Jamieson D. 1995. Ecosystem health: some preventive medicine. Environ. Values 4:333-44
- 85. McShane K. 2004. Ecosystem health. Environ. Ethics 26(3):227-45
- 86. Soulé M. 1985. What is conservation biology? BioScience 35(11):727-34
- 87. Katz E. 1992. The big lie: human restoration of nature. Res. Philos. Technol. 12:231-41
- 88. Bradley B. 2001. The value of endangered species. *J. Value Ing.* 35:43–58
- 89. Maier DS. 2012. What's So Good About Biodiversity? A Call for Better Reasoning About Nature's Value. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- Preston CJ. 2011. Re-thinking the unthinkable: environmental ethics and the presumptive argument against geoengineering. Environ. Values 20:457–79
- 91. Elliot R. 1982. Faking nature. Inquiry 25:81-93
- 92. Hettinger N, Throop W. 1999. Refocusing ecocentrism. Environ. Ethics 21(1):3-21
- 93. Callicott JB, Nelson MP. 1999. The Great New Wilderness Debate. Athens: Univ. Georgia Press
- 94. Kareiva P, Marvier M. 2012. What is conservation science? BioScience 62(11):962-69
- 95. McKibben B. 1989. The End of Nature. New York: Random House
- 96. Carter A. 2005. Inegalitarian biocentric consequentialism, the minimax implication and multidimensional value theory: a brief proposal for a new direction in environmental ethics. *Utilitas* 17(1):62–84
- Singer P. 1989. All animals are equal. In *Animal Rights and Human Obligations*, ed. T Regan, P Singer, pp. 148–62. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall
- 98. Holbrook D. 1997. The consequentialist side of environmental ethics. Environ. Values 6(1):87-96
- McMahan J. 2010. The meat eaters. New York Times, Sept. 19. http://opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com/ 2010/09/19/the-meat-eaters/?\_php=true&\_type=blogs&\_r=0
- Sagoff M. 1984. Animal liberation and environmental ethics: bad marriage, quick divorce. Osgoode Hall Law 7. 22:297–307
- 101. Hayward T. 2005. Constitutional Environmental Rights. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Francione G. 2000. Introduction to Animal Rights: Your Child or the Dog? Philadelphia: Temple Univ. Press
- 103. Cochrane A. 2012. Animal Rights Without Liberation. New York: Columbia Univ. Press
- 104. Hill TE Jr. 1983. Ideals of human excellence and preserving natural environments. Environ. Ethics 5(3):211–24
- Sandler R. 2007. Character and Environment: A Virtue-Oriented Approach to Environmental Ethics. New York: Columbia Univ. Press
- 106. Sandler R, Cafaro P, eds. 2005. Environmental Virtue Ethics. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield
- 107. van Wensveen L. 2000. Dirty Virtues: The Emergence of Ecological Virtue Ethics. Amherst, NY: Prometheus
- 108. Warren K. 1993. Introduction. In Environmental Philosophy: From Animal Rights to Radical Ecology, ed. ME Zimmerman, JB Callicott, J Clark, KJ Warren, IJ Klaver, J Clark, pp. 253–67. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall
- 109. Ruether RR. 1975. New Woman, New Earth: Sexist Ideologies and Human Liberation. New York: Seabury
- Plumwood V. 1991. Nature, self and gender: feminism, environmental philosophy and the critique of rationalism. *Hypatia* 6(1):3–27
- 111. Kheel M. 1993. From heroic to holistic ethics: the ecofeminist challenge. In Ecofeminism: Women, Animals, Nature, ed. G Gaard, pp. 243–71. Philadelphia: Temple Univ. Press

- 112. Plumwood V. 1993. Feminism and the Mastery of Nature. London: Routledge
- 113. Light A, Katz E, eds. 1996. Environmental Pragmatism. New York: Routledge
- Norton BG. 1997. Convergence and contextualism: some clarifications and a reply to Steverson. Environ. Ethics 19(1):87–99
- Light A. 2002. Contemporary environmental ethics: from metaethics to public philosophy. Metaphilosophy 33(4):426–49
- Ferkany M, Whyte K. 2012. The importance of participatory virtues in the future of environmental education. 7. Agric. Environ. Ethics 25(3):419–34
- 117. O'Neill J. 1993. Ecology, Policy and Politics. London: Routledge
- Attfield R. 2011. Climate change, environmental ethics, and biocentrism. In Climate Change and Environmental Ethics, ed. VP Nanda, pp. 31–41. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction
- 119. Sarkar S. 2005. Biodiversity and Environmental Philosophy. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Basl J, Sandler R, eds. 2013. Designer Biology: The Ethics of Intensively Engineering Biological and Ecological Systems. Lanham, MD: Lexington
- Streiffer R, Basl J. 2013. The ethics of agricultural animal biotechnology. In Ethics and Emerging Technologies, ed. R Sandler, pp. 501–5. New York: Palgrave Macmillan
- 122. Preston CJ. 2008. Synthetic biology: drawing a line in Darwin's sand. Environ. Values 17(1):23-39
- 123. Comstock G. 2001. Vexing Nature? On the Ethical Case Against Agricultural Biotechnology. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- 124. Thompson PB. 2013. Artificial meat. In Ethics and Emerging Technologies, ed. R Sandler, pp. 516–30. New York: Palgrave Macmillan
- 125. Light A. 2000. Ecological restoration and the culture of nature: a pragmatic perspective. In Restoring Nature: Perspectives from the Humanities and Social Sciences, ed. P Gobster, B Hull, pp. 49–70. Washington, DC: Island
- 126. Throop W. 2012. Environmental virtues and the aims of restoration. See Ref. 149, pp. 47-62
- 127. Higgs E. 2012. History, novelty and virtue in ecological restoration. See Ref. 149, pp. 81–102
- 128. Sandler R. 2012. Global warming and virtues of ecological restoration. See Ref. 149, pp. 63-80
- 129. Light A. 2012. The death of restoration. See Ref. 149, pp. 105–24
- 130. Nolt J. 2011. Nonanthropocentric climate ethics. WIREs Clim. Change 2:701-11
- McCoy ED, Berry K. 2008. Using an ecological ethics framework to make decisions about the relocation of wildlife. Sci. Eng. Ethics 14:505–21
- Camacho A. 2010. Assisted migration: redefining nature and natural resource law under climate change.
   Yale 7. Regul. 27:171–255
- 133. Aubin I, Garbe CM, Colombo S, Drever CR, McKenney DW, et al. 2011. Why we disagree about assisted migration: ethical implications of a key debate regarding the future of Canada's forest. For. Chron. 87:755–65
- 134. Albrecht G, Brooke C, Bennett D, Garnett S. 2013. The ethics of assisted colonization in the age of anthropogenic climate change. J. Agric. Environ. Ethics 26:827–45
- Ricciardi A, Simberloff D. 2008. Why assisted migration is not a viable conservation strategy. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24:248–53
- Sandler R. 2010. The value of species and the ethical foundations of assisted colonization. Conserv. Biol. 24(2):424–31
- Buma B. 2013. Don't give up just yet: maintaining species, services and systems in a changing world. *Ethics, Policy Environ.* 16:33–36
- Larson B, Palmer C. 2013. Assisted migration is no panacea, but let's not discount it either. Ethics, Policy Environ. 16:16–18
- 139. Jamieson D. 1996. Ethics and intentional climate change. Clim. Change 33:323-36
- 140. Hamilton C. 2013. The ethical foundations of climate engineering. In Climate Change Geoengineering: Philosophical Perspectives, Legal Issues and Governance Frameworks, ed. W Burns, A Strauss, pp. 39–58. London: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 141. Tuana N. 2013. The ethical dimensions of geoengineering: solar radiation management through sulfur particle injection. Geoengineering our climate? Ethics, policy and governance. Work. Pap. 2, Geoeng. Our Clim. Work. Pap. Opin. Artic. Ser., Penn State Univ. Press. http://geoengineeringourclimate.files.wordpress.com/2013/06/tuana-2013-ethics-of-geoengineering-click-for-download.pdf

- 142. Hale B. 2012. The world that would have been: moral hazard arguments against geoengineering. See Ref. 147, pp. 113–32
- 143. Davies G. 2010. Geoengineering: a critique. Clim. Law 1(3):429-41
- Svoboda T, Keller K, Goes M, Tuana N. 2011. Sulfate aerosol geoengineering: the question of justice. *Public Aff. Q.* 25(3):157–80
- 145. Preston CJ. 2012. Solar radiation management and vulnerable populations: the moral deficit and its prospects. See Ref. 147, pp. 77–94
- 146. Hamilton C. 2013. No, we should not just 'at least do the research.' Nature 496(7444):139
- 147. Preston CJ, ed. 2012. Engineering the Climate: The Ethics of Solar Radiation Management. Lanham, MD: Lexington
- 148. Gardiner S. 2010. Is arming the future with geoengineering really the lesser evil? Some doubts about intentionally manipulating the climate system. In *Climate Ethics: Essential Readings*, ed. S Gardiner, S Caney, D Jamieson, pp. 284–314. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- 149. Thompson A, Bendik-Keymer J, eds. 2012. Ethical Adaptation to Climate Change: Human Virtues of the Future. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press



Annual Review of Environment and Resources

# Contents

Volume 39, 2014

Introductionv
Who Should Read This Journal?vii
I. Integrative Themes and Emerging Concerns
Environmental Issues in Australia Alistair J. Hobday and Jan McDonald
Gender and Sustainability  Ruth Meinzen-Dick, Chiara Kovarik, and Agnes R. Quisumbing29
II. Earth's Life Support Systems
Implications of Arctic Sea Ice Decline for the Earth System  Uma S. Bhatt, Donald A. Walker, John E. Walsh, Eddy C. Carmack, Karen E. Frey,  Walter N. Meier, Sue E. Moore, Frans-Jan W. Parmentier, Eric Post,  Vladimir E. Romanovsky, and William R. Simpson
Modeling the Terrestrial Biosphere  Joshua B. Fisher, Deborah N. Huntzinger, Christopher R. Schwalm,  and Stephen Sitch
Tropical Forests in the Anthropocene  Yadvinder Malhi, Toby A. Gardner, Gregory R. Goldsmith, Miles R. Silman,  and Przemyslaw Zelazowski
Life's Bottleneck: Sustaining the World's Phosphorus for a Food Secure Future  Dana Cordell and Stuart White
Tropical Intraseasonal Modes of the Atmosphere  Yolande L. Serra, Xianan Jiang, Baijun Tian, Jorge Amador-Astua,  Eric D. Maloney, and George N. Kiladis
III. Human Use of the Environment and Resources
Dynamics and Resilience of Rangelands and Pastoral Peoples Around the Globe  Robin S. Reid, María E. Fernández-Giménez, and Kathleen A. Galvin
Carbon Dioxide Capture and Storage: Issues and Prospects  Heleen de Coninck and Sally M. Benson

Mark W. Rosegrant and Siwa Msangi
Energy for Transport  Maria Figueroa, Oliver Lah, Lewis M. Fulton, Alan McKinnon,  and Geetam Tiwari  295
The Environmental Costs and Benefits of Fracking  Robert B. Jackson, Avner Vengosh, J. William Carey, Richard J. Davies,  Thomas H. Darrah, Francis O'Sullivan, and Gabrielle Pétron
Human Appropriation of Net Primary Production: Patterns, Trends, and Planetary Boundaries  Helmut Haberl, Karl-Heinz Erb, and Fridolin Krausmann
Consumer End-Use Energy Efficiency and Rebound Effects  *Inês M.L. Azevedo** 393
IV. Management and Governance of Resources and Environment
Environmental Ethics  Clare Palmer, Katie McShane, and Ronald Sandler
The Psychology of Environmental Decisions  Ben R. Newell, Rachel I. McDonald, Marilynn Brewer, and Brett K. Hayes
The Business of Water: Market Environmentalism in the Water Sector  *Karen Bakker**
V. Methods and Indicators
Advances in Measuring the Environmental and Social Impacts of Environmental Programs  Paul J. Ferraro and Merlin M. Hanauer
Concepts and Methodologies for Measuring the Sustainability of Cities  María Yetano Roche, Stefan Lechtenböhmer, Manfred Fischedick,  Marie-Christine Gröne, Chun Xia, and Carmen Dienst
Measuring the Co-Benefits of Climate Change Mitigation  Diana Ürge-Vorsatz, Sergio Tirado Herrero, Navroz K. Dubash,  and Franck Lecocq
Networks and the Challenge of Sustainable Development  Adam Douglas Henry and Björn Vollan
Water Security and Society: Risks, Metrics, and Pathways  Dustin Garrick and 7im W. Hall

Citizen Science: A Tool for Integrating Studies of Human and Natural	
Systems	
Rhiannon Crain, Caren Cooper, and Janis L. Dickinson	641
Indexes	
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 30–39	667
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 30–39	672

## Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/environ

It's about time. Your time. It's time well spent.

## **New From Annual Reviews:**

# Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application

Volume 1 • Online January 2014 • http://statistics.annualreviews.org

Editor: **Stephen E. Fienberg**, *Carnegie Mellon University* Associate Editors: **Nancy Reid**, *University of Toronto* 

Stephen M. Stigler, University of Chicago

The Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application aims to inform statisticians and quantitative methodologists, as well as all scientists and users of statistics about major methodological advances and the computational tools that allow for their implementation. It will include developments in the field of statistics, including theoretical statistical underpinnings of new methodology, as well as developments in specific application domains such as biostatistics and bioinformatics, economics, machine learning, psychology, sociology, and aspects of the physical sciences.

## Complimentary online access to the first volume will be available until January 2015.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS:

- · What Is Statistics? Stephen E. Fienberg
- A Systematic Statistical Approach to Evaluating Evidence from Observational Studies, David Madigan, Paul E. Stang, Jesse A. Berlin, Martijn Schuemie, J. Marc Overhage, Marc A. Suchard, Bill Dumouchel, Abraham G. Hartzema, Patrick B. Ryan
- The Role of Statistics in the Discovery of a Higgs Boson, David A. van Dyk
- Brain Imaging Analysis, F. DuBois Bowman
- · Statistics and Climate, Peter Guttorp
- Climate Simulators and Climate Projections, Jonathan Rougier, Michael Goldstein
- Probabilistic Forecasting, Tilmann Gneiting, Matthias Katzfuss
- Bayesian Computational Tools, Christian P. Robert
- Bayesian Computation Via Markov Chain Monte Carlo, Radu V. Craiu, Jeffrey S. Rosenthal
- Build, Compute, Critique, Repeat: Data Analysis with Latent Variable Models, David M. Blei
- Structured Regularizers for High-Dimensional Problems: Statistical and Computational Issues, Martin J. Wainwright

- High-Dimensional Statistics with a View Toward Applications in Biology, Peter Bühlmann, Markus Kalisch, Lukas Meier
- Next-Generation Statistical Genetics: Modeling, Penalization, and Optimization in High-Dimensional Data, Kenneth Lange, Jeanette C. Papp, Janet S. Sinsheimer, Eric M. Sobel
- Breaking Bad: Two Decades of Life-Course Data Analysis in Criminology, Developmental Psychology, and Beyond, Elena A. Erosheva, Ross L. Matsueda, Donatello Telesca
- · Event History Analysis, Niels Keiding
- Statistical Evaluation of Forensic DNA Profile Evidence, Christopher D. Steele, David J. Balding
- Using League Table Rankings in Public Policy Formation: Statistical Issues, Harvey Goldstein
- · Statistical Ecology, Ruth King
- Estimating the Number of Species in Microbial Diversity Studies, John Bunge, Amy Willis, Fiona Walsh
- Dynamic Treatment Regimes, Bibhas Chakraborty, Susan A. Murphy
- Statistics and Related Topics in Single-Molecule Biophysics, Hong Qian, S.C. Kou
- Statistics and Quantitative Risk Management for Banking and Insurance. Paul Embrechts. Marius Hofert

Access this and all other Annual Reviews journals via your institution at www.annualreviews.org.





